FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/5/2023 4:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>101</u>605-1 (COA No. 55675-8)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL BRADY,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE L. BENWARD Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katebenward@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND OPINION BELOW

Michael Brady, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Mr. Brady diligently made payments on his legal financial obligations while in prison, but his payments were first allocated to discretionary costs, not to the restitution and the other mandatory costs he owed. The trial court denied Mr. Brady's request to reallocate the payments that had been applied to discretionary costs instead of to the outstanding mandatory fines and fees that compensate victims.

The Court of Appeals found a trial court lacks the authority to reallocate payments made to discretionary legal financial obligations, even though there is no statute that prohibits it. This Court should accept

review because compensating victims and unburdening indigent defendants from the unjust and excessive fines that inhibit their reentry is a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. Washington courts acknowledge community custody is confinement akin to incarceration, but have also found, paradoxically, that it does not constitute a form of "punishment" proscribed by the constitutional limits $Blakely^I$ places on a court's sentencing authority. The Court of Appeals similarly held that Mr. Brady's incarceration of the maximum standard range sentence can be followed by a term of community custody so long as the combined terms does not exceed the statutory maximum. This decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in $State\ v.\ Knotek$, 136 Wn. App. 412,

 $^{^1}$ Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004).

425, 149 P.3d 676 (2006), which correctly treats the effective maximum as the top end of the standard sentencing range. *Id.* this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(2),(3).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2021, Mr. Brady moved to remit his LFOS under former RCW 10.01.160. Op. at 3. The trial court found him indigent, but mistakenly believed appellate costs were not discretionary. Op. at 5. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for the trial court to properly exercise its discretion to waive those costs. Op. at 8.

At this hearing Mr. Brady also moved to reallocate the payments he made on discretionary LFOS to his outstanding mandatory LFOs. Op. at 9.

The trial court did not believe it had the authority to do this, and the Court of Appeals agreed. Op. at 9.

Finally, Mr. Brady filed a motion to clarify the order of community custody in his judgment and sentence. CP 1-15; Op. at 3. His community custody term is governed by former RCW 9.94A.715(1)(2003). CP 5. Under section (a) of that statute, community custody begins when a person is released from confinement. CP 23. Under section (b) of the statute, community custody begins in lieu of earned release time. CP 23.

Mr. Brady argued that under section (a), the court's order of community custody results in confinement longer than the allowable maximum sentence; whereas under section (b), it does not. CP 7-14. Ignoring the critical difference between sections (a) and (b) of the statute, the trial court adopted the prosecutor's contention that because the community custody term did not exceed the statutory maximum

life term for his Class A convictions, there was no need for clarification, and denied Mr. Brady's motion. RP 41-42; CP 56. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of his motion to clarify. Op. at 1.

D. ARGUMENT

1. A trial court's ability to reallocate the payment of discretionary legal financial obligations to mandatory fines will ensure victims are compensated, and defendants are not straddled with unnecessary legal financial obligations that inhibit reentry.

The trial court wrongly believed it lacked the authority to reallocate Mr. Brady's previous payments of discretionary legal costs to remaining mandatory costs. Op. at 9.

Trial courts have wide latitude in matters related to sentencing under the statutes governing legal costs.

State v. Moon, 124 Wn. App. 190, 193, 100 P.3d 357 (2004). "[I]n the absence of statutory language indicating otherwise, a sentencing court has

jurisdiction to enforce the requirements of a sentence imposed until those requirements are met[.]" State v. Johnson, 54 Wn. App. 489, 491, 774 P.2d 526 (1989). Even where the clerk has sent a person's unpaid legal financial obligations to a collection agency, the superior court retains authority over the LFOs. State v. Gaines, 16 Wn. App. 2d 52, 57, 479 P.3d 735 (2021) (citing RCW 36.18.190, which provides that regardless of any collection agency contract, the superior court retains "control over unpaid obligations owed to the court"). A superior court's "failure to recognize that it has discretion to grant a motion is itself an abuse of discretion." Id.

Courts have statutory authority to "modify the terms of payment of the legal financial obligations[.]" RCW 9.94A.6333(3)(f). For instance, when a person fails to pay their LFOs, a court can reduce or waive

nonrestitution legal financial obligations, or convert nonrestitution legal financial obligations to community restitution hours. *Id.* There is no statute prohibiting a court from ordering a court clerk to reallocate payments a defendant has made on discretionary LFOs to unpaid mandatory LFOs. The Court of Appeals acknowledged the statute "does not confine a trial court's authority to unpaid LFOs," but believed case law did. Op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals faulted Mr. Brady for citing to case law concerning unpaid LFOs. Op. at 11. But the Court of Appeals ignored Mr. Brady's citation to *State v. Welker*, 2019 WL 3564054, *1, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1092 (2019) (GR 14). In this case, there was no issue with a trial court ordering the clerk's office to reverse the application of amounts earlier collected to discretionary LFOs that the court found could have been waived or

reduced. *Id.* at *1. The court ordered the clerk to apply those amounts to mandatory LFOs. *Id.* at *1. Mr. Welker's case was resolved on other grounds, but there was no finding by the Court of Appeals that this was in anyway impermissible.

Division I similarly ordered misallocated funds to be refunded to the defendant after he made his payments in *Matter of Cargill*, 2018 WL 20218053 * 2, Wn. App. 2d 1040 (2018) (GR 14).

As was true in *Welker* and authorized by *Cargill*, the court should have ordered the clerk to apply Mr. Brady's payments on his discretionary LFOS to so his remaining mandatory legal financial obligations. This is well within the court's authority that it retains over costs until the judgment has been satisfied.

This Court should accept review because compensating victims and unburdening criminal

defendants from the payment of fines imposed despite their indigency is a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. This Court should accept review to resolve conflicting Court of Appeals decisions about whether the maximum sentence under *Blakey* is the statutory maximum or the top of the standard range.

Washington courts acknowledge community custody is confinement akin to incarceration, but have also found, paradoxically, that it does not constitute a form of "punishment" proscribed by the constitutional limits *Blakely* places on a court's sentencing authority. In allowing community custody to exceed the standard range, courts have erroneously relied on a statute defining the "statutory maximum" rather than what constitutes the statutory maximum after *Blakely*. This Court should accept review and resolve the lower court's misapprehension about whether community

custody must conform to *Blakeley*'s constitutional limit.

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, the Supreme Court held that "every fact (other than the fact of a prior conviction) that increases the defendant's sentence beyond the statutory maximum may be used only if it was either proved beyond a reasonable doubt to the trier of fact at trial or admitted by the defendant."

State v. Evans, 154 Wn.2d 438, 441, 114 P.3d 627 (2005) (citing Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000)).

Washington Courts had mistakenly interpreted the *statutory maximum* to mean "the absolute maximum sentence provided by the legislature for a certain offense, not the maximum sentence allowed by the jury's findings" *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 131, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), *abrogated by Washington v.*

Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006) (citing State v. Gore, 143 Wn.2d 288, 313–15, 21 P.3d 262 (2001)).

In *Blakely*, the Supreme Court corrected this misinterpretation, clarifying that the "statutory maximum" did not refer to the maximum sentence authorized by the legislature for the crime. *Evans*, 154 Wn.2d at 441. Instead, the "statutory maximum" meant the maximum sentence a trial judge was authorized to give without finding additional facts. *Id.* In the case of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981(SRA), chapter 9.94A RCW, this was the top of the standard sentencing range, not the statutory maximum. *Id.* (citing *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 303).

Our courts recognize that a defendant is no less restricted when he is under community placement, particularly community custody, as when he is incarcerated. State v. Ross, 129 Wn.2d 279, 286, 916 P.2d 405 (1996). That is because "community custody" is defined as "that portion of an offender's sentence of confinement in lieu of earned release time or imposed as part of a sentence under this chapter and served in the community subject to controls placed on the offender's movement and activities by the department." RCW 9.94A.030(5)(emphasis added). Thus like incarceration, community custody is punishment. This means the "authorized punishment" after *Blakely* is the combined terms of incarceration and community custody authorized by statute. Because a term of community custody increases the defendant's sentence, it may be imposed beyond the maximum allowable sentence only if based on additional facts either proved beyond a reasonable doubt to the trier of fact at trial or admitted by the defendant. Evans, 154 Wn.2d at 441.

Yet courts have found that this confinement, which is indisputably "punishment," is exempted from the limits on a court's sentence as defined by *Blakely*. *State v. Toney*, 149 Wn. App. 787, 795–96, 205 P.3d 944 (2009). In *Toney*, the court found RCW 9A.20.021 provides the definition of "statutory maximum," not the high end of the standard range under the SRA as defined by *Blakely*. *Toney*, 149 Wn. App. at 795; *compare Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 303 (the "statutory maximum" means the "maximum sentence a trial judge was authorized to give without finding additional facts").

Each division of this Court has so found by simply ignoring *Blakely*'s constitutional definition of the maximum allowable sentence. In *State v. Thompson*, 143 Wn. App. 861, 871, 181 P.3d 858

(2008), Division Two looked to the statutory definitions

of the "maximum sentence" as provided by RCW 9A.32.040, 9A.32.030(2), 9A.20.021(1)(a). These statutes set the maximum term of "life," for a Class A offense, which the court found was the maximum allowable sentence, despite Blakely defining the "statutory maximum" to mean "the maximum sentence a trial judge was authorized to give without finding additional facts." Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303; Thompson, 143 Wn. App. at 871. Relying on these statutes, rather than *Blakely's* constitutional limit on the statutory maximum, *Thompson* approved of trial courts adding two years of community custody in excess of the standard range so long as it did not exceed the statutory maximums provided by statute. *Id.* Division Three reached the same result, also without analysis, in State v. Adams, 138 Wn. App. 36, 51, 155 P.3d 989

(2007) (citing RCW 9A. 20.021 as providing statutory maximum for class A felony).

Toney cited to State v. Knotek, 136 Wn. App. 412, 425, 149 P.3d 676 (2006) as a basis to conclude that RCW 9A.20.021 provides the statutory maximum. 149 Wn. App. at 795. *Knotek* does not support *Toney*'s conclusion. In *Knotek*, the court found that that Blakely "does not nullify life imprisonment as the statutory maximum for a Class A offense," but, "... reduce[s] the maximum terms of confinement to which the court could sentence" without a jury fact finding. Toney, 149 Wn. App. at 796 (citing Knotek, 136 Wn. App. at 425). *Knotek* specified this meant "[a] life sentence is possible for a Class A felony only if the trier of fact specifically finds beyond a reasonable doubt, or the defendant admits to, aggravating facts supporting an exceptional life sentence." Knotek, 136 Wn. App. at

425. This means the effective maximum for a Class A felony is the top end of the standard sentencing range. *Id.*

Knotek would thus not allow a court to increase the standard range without the court finding additional facts, whether punishment is time in prison or community custody. To the contrary, Knotek clarified that Blakely had substantially eliminated the possibility of exceptional life sentences without a jury verdict finding aggravating facts, and thus, had substantially lowered the maximum sentences. Knotek, 136 Wn. App. at 425–26.

In Mr. Brady's case, the maximum allowable sentence for his Class A offenses was 318 months, not a life sentence. CP 22; *Knotek*, 136 Wn. App. at 425–26. The court imposed the maximum allowable sentence of 318 months. CP 22. But the court also imposed an

additional sentence of 36-48 months of community custody, which is a greater term of confinement than permitted based on the facts reflected in the verdict. CP 23; CP 23.

However, the community custody statute Mr. Brady was sentenced under has two separate provisions, one that exceeds the maximum allowable sentence, and one that does not. Under the former version of RCW 9.94A.715(1)(a), Mr. Brady would be confined between 36-48 months after serving the maximum allowable sentence based on the facts contained in the verdict; this would result in a total term of 354 months to 366 months. CP 22-23. This exceeds the standard range sentence, defined by Blakey, Evans, Hughes, and Knotek, of 318 months. CP 19 (318 months highest available sentence). However, under section (b), the total term of

confinement in prison and community custody would not exceed the maximum allowable sentence. The table below illustrates this difference:

RCW 9.94A.715(1)(a)	RCW 9.94.715(1)(b)
318 months (maximum	318 months (maximum
allowable sentence)	allowable sentence)
Begin serving 36-48	Transferred to
months community	community custody from
custody after serving 318	prison in lieu of earned
months in prison	release time.
Total sentence: 354-60	Total sentence: 318
months	months

Mr. Brady asked the court to clarify whether he was sentenced to serve community custody under former RCW 9.94A.715(1)(a) or (b), because under section (a), his total confinement will exceed the maximum allowable sentence, but under (b), it would not. CP 1-15.

To the extent that appellate courts have found the existence of a different statutory definition of "maximum term" permits an increase above the maximum allowable sentence, it contravenes *Blakely*, *Evans*, and *Hughes*, and *Knotek*. This Court should accept review to resolve the division split about what constitutes the maximum sentence a court can impose, and whether Mr. Brady's sentence violates the maximum allowable range. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2),(3).

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, petitioner Michael Brady respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

In compliance with RAP 18.17, this document contains 2,506 words.