FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/30/2023 4:29 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101605-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL JOSEPH BRADY,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Bruce W. Cohoe

No. 01-1-06116-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

I. INTRODUCTION

Michael Brady has not proven in this record that he has made any payments toward his legal financial obligations. Citing RAP 13.4(b)(4), he asks the Court to reallocate alleged payments which would have been disbursed proportionally and lawfully under RCW 9.94A.760(2). This claim must be denied, because the usurpation of legislative power does not involve a matter of substantial public interest.

Brady alleges that *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004) applies to his term of community custody. The claim (first made in No. 34715-6-II over a decade ago) has been repeatedly rejected, because the trial court's authority to impose community custody does not rely on any fact other than his conviction. His misstatement of law does not demonstrate a conflict of laws or a significant constitutional issue.

In the absence of a RAP 13.4(b) consideration, the Court must deny review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Does Brady's request that the courts disregard constitutional statutes on policy grounds involve a matter of substantial public interest?
- B. Does Brady's *Blakely* claim, which was decided in a previous appeal, demonstrate any conflict of laws or a significant constitutional question?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Michael Brady remains convicted in Pierce County Sup. Ct. No. 01-1-06116-1 of 17 counts of first-degree child rape and 7 counts of first-degree child molestation. Unpub. Op. at 2; *State v. Brady*, 121 Wn. App. 1032 (2004) (unpublished). (This Court vacated the 6 counts of sexual exploitation in 2010 in No. 83699-0.)

His crimes were committed in May of 2001 so as to predate the indeterminate sentencing law first enacted by Laws of 2001, 2d Spec. Sess., ch. 12, § 303. CP 17-18. He received a determinate sentence. The most serious offense had a standard range of 240-318 months. CP 19. At his first sentencing, in

2021, the trial court imposed exceptional consecutive sentences.

Brady, 121 Wn. App. 1032, 2004 WL 958070 at *1.

Following *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), the matter was remanded for standard concurrent sentences. Unpub. Op. at 2. In 2006,

Brady was resentenced to 318 months of confinement and 36-48 months of community custody. The trial court also imposed \$1,151.92 in LFOs¹ for restitution, crime victim assessment, and criminal filing fees.

Unpub. Op. at 2.

Brady appealed from his resentencing in Ct. of Ap. No. 34715-6-II, raising additional claims under *Blakely*. Br. of Resp. at 7 (citing App. E). Specifically, he argued the lifetime nocontact order and the community custody term exceeded the 318-month, high end of the standard range, which he claimed was the applicable statutory maximum. *Id*. The court of appeals denied those claims on the merits.

Blakely clarified that 'the statutory maximum' for Apprendi purposes is the maximum

_

¹ Legal Financial Obligations

sentence a judge may impose solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303. (emphasis in original).

Community custody is part of Brady's punishment, making his sentence potentially longer than the high end of his standard range. See State v. Sloan, 121 Wn.App. 220, 223 (2004). But that additional punishment is based on the same facts the trial court found after the bench trial, not additional RCW 9.94A.120(11)(a)(2000), Former required the trial court to impose a term of community custody because it found Brady guilty of sex offenses, including rape of a child in the first degree, child molestation in the first degree and sexual exploitation of a minor with sexual motivation. Former RCW 9.94A.030(37)(2000). The trial court found no additional facts in imposing the term of community custody, so it did not violate Blakely. And Brady's sentence of 316 months of incarceration plus 36 to 48 months of community custody does not exceed the statutory maximum for Class A felonies of life imprisonment.

Br. of Resp. at 8 (quoting App. E (30-31)). He petitioned for further review, which the courts denied. *State v. Brady*, 163 Wn.2d 1044, 187 P.3d 270 (2008), *cert. denied, Brady v. Washington*, 555 U.S. 872, 129 S.Ct. 172, 172 L.Ed. 123 (2008).

Following the denial of his fourteenth personal restraint petition, Brady filed two motions. CP 1-54, 78-84. In the Motion

to Clarify his sentence, he argued once again that the community custody term exceeds the statutory maximum term under *Blakely*. CP 10. He recommended that the court reduce his confinement from 318 to 282 months if it wanted him to serve 36 months of community custody. CP 12. In the Motion to Waive Non-Mandatory Legal Financial Obligations, Brady asked the court to remit his appellate costs and to find that he had paid all mandatory LFOS. CP 78-82. The motion does not provide any proof of payment.

The trial court entered orders which struck certain LFOs (the criminal filing fee, the supervision fee, and nonrestitution interest) and which denied the Motion to Clarify. CP 55-59. Brady appealed. CP 60-63.

The court of appeals noted that the trial court mistakenly believed that it lacked the authority to remit appellate costs, correctly found that it lacked authority to reallocate payments which had already been distributed, and affirmed the decision denying the Motion to Clarify. Unpub. Op. at 1.

IV. ARGUMENT

To obtain discretionary review, a petitioner must demonstrate a consideration under RAP 13.4(b). Brady has not demonstrated any such consideration. Therefore, review must be denied.

A. Where there is no allegation that the statutes are unconstitutional, a court may not reject them because a party prefers a different policy.

Brady claims but does not demonstrate that it is a matter of substantial public interest that the courts should unlawfully "reallocate" payments which have already been distributed for another purpose. Pet. at 9. He does not even demonstrate this would benefit him since there is no record that he has made any payments at all. *See* Unpub. Op. at 12. Because his request would contravene existing law purely on policy grounds, Brady is recommending this Court usurp legislative authority.

Brady claims he believes the trial court has this authority, because he alleges that no authority directs the clerk on how to disburse LFO payments. Pet. at 5-7. This is specious as the court

of appeals provided Brady with that statutory authority in its opinion. Unpub. Op. at 11 (citing RCW 9.94A.760(2) and RCW 10.01.170).

- (2) Upon receipt of each payment made by or on behalf of an offender, the county clerk shall distribute the payment in the following order of priority until satisfied:
 - (a) First, proportionally to restitution to victims that have not been fully compensated from other sources;
 - (b) Second, proportionally to restitution to insurance or other sources with respect to a loss that has provided compensation to victims;
 - (c) Third, proportionally to crime victims' assessments; and
 - (d) Fourth, proportionally to costs, fines, and other assessments required by law.

RCW 9.94A.760(2); see also RCW 10.01.170.

Superior court clerks hold constitutional positions, independent of the judicial branch. Unpub. Op. at 10-11. The county clerk has mandatory duties including "the receipt and disbursement of funds" in a specified manner. Unpub. Op. at 10, 11 (citing RCW 2.32.070).

The trial court's authority regarding LFOs is limited to imposition and remittance, "retain[ing] authority over unpaid LFOs." RCW 10.01.160(3) and (4); Unpub. Op. at 10. The legislature has not authorized the courts to claw back funds which the clerk has legally disbursed to various entities and where those funds may have been expended under the justified expectation that they were lawfully disbursed.

Brady does not challenge any statute, all of which are presumptively constitutional. *Tunstall ex rel. Tunstall v. Bergeson*, 141 Wn.2d 201, 220, 5 P.3d 691, 701 (2000) (courts presume a statute to be constitutional until proven otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt and afford great deference to the judgment of a coequal branch of government that is sworn to uphold the constitution). There is no lawful basis for a trial court to order the clerk to violate the law.

Because it is simply not possible to claw back funds which have been disbursed to one purpose (and likely spent) in order to redistribute them to another purpose, Brady is actually asking that the court remit mandatory LFOs, including restitution, which it cannot do. *State v. Catling*, 193 Wn.2d 252, 438 P.3d 1174 (2019).

The court of appeals noted that the published cases upon which Brady relies only regard "unpaid" obligations. Unpub. Op. at 10. Notwithstanding this admonition, Brady continues to so rely. Pet at 6 (citing *State v. Gaines*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 52, 57, 479 P.3d 735 (2021)). He also misrepresents² the relevance of unpublished decisions. Pet. at 7-8 (citing *State v. Welker*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1092 (2019) and *In re the Pers. Restraint of Cargill*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1040 (2018)).

Brady argues that a court may contravene the existing statute based on its own policy ideas. Pet. at 7 (arguing that there must be a specific statute prohibiting the court from undoing

² Brady alleges *Welker* "resolved [the issue] on other grounds." Pet. at 8. In fact, the issue was not before the court of appeals at all where Welker had not challenged the reallocation of paid obligations. Nor is *Cargill* "similar" where no reallocation was ordered, but only the reversal of the initial imposition of costs.

legislative intent). In other words, Brady is urging this Court to violate the separation of powers doctrine. *See Washington State Legislature v. Inslee*, 198 Wn.2d 561, 579, 498 P.3d 496 (2021) (a fundamental function of the legislature is to set policy and to draft and enact laws). "Judicial deference to the legislature's decision on how to format its bills—especially its appropriations bills—best comports with separation of powers principles." *Id*.

The legislature has made many changes in the law on legal financial obligations, some of which apply retroactively. *See e.g.*Laws of 2022, ch. 29; Laws of 2018, ch. 269. To this date, it has not enacted a law requiring or even permitting the courts to recover already disbursed funds. It is unlikely to do so where the paperwork alone is likely to cost significantly more than the reimbursements and where offenders would be better served by other bills, e.g. HB 1024 (requiring that an incarcerated person's wage be no less than the state minimum wage). It is not a matter of public interest that the courts cancel legislatively mandated acts based on policy differences.

B. There is no conflict in case law or significant constitutional question which would interpret *Blakely* as limiting the community custody term, a provision that does not rely on any fact other than conviction.

The denial of Brady's *Blakely* challenge to his community custody term was the law of the case long before he filed his Motion to Clarify. There is no basis for review.

Brady's argument has been and continues to be that his term of incarceration and his term of community custody may not exceed 318 months, because his standard range was 240-318 months. That simply is not the law. While he relies on *Blakely*, he completely misrepresents the case.

In *Blakely*, the United States Supreme Court applied the rule which it had expressed in *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000): "Other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 2536, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

The dispute in *Blakely* was the meaning of "statutory maximum." The Washington legislature had intended, and Washington courts had consistently interpreted that term to reference RCW 9A.20.021. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303. The Blakely majority decided that "statutory maximum' for Apprendi purposes³ is the maximum sentence a judge may impose solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant." Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303 (italics in the original, bold emphasis added). In other words, the maximum term of incarceration which the court could impose based on Blakely's guilty plea was the high end of the standard range. Id. at 304. It could not impose an exceptional sentence, which could only be justified by the finding of a factor separate from those used in determining the standard range. *Id.* (quoting State v. Gore, 143 Wn.2d 288, 315-16, 21 P.3d 262, 276 (2001)).

³ Blakely did not change the meaning of "statutory maximum" for other purposes, e.g., RCW 9.94A.701(10).

By definition, the addition of a community custody term cannot exceed the statutory maximum "for *Apprendi* purposes," because its imposition does not require any additional finding of fact other than those required for conviction. Unpub. Op. at 12, 14-15 (citing *State v. Knotek*, 136 Wn. App. 412, 149 P.3d 676 (2006)).

Based on his own misunderstanding of *Blakely*, Brady asks for his community custody term to be clarified under former RCW 9.94A.715 pursuant to his false statement of law. Because the premise fails, there is no need for clarification. Moreover, Brady does not appear to understand former RCW 9.94A.715. The provisions at subsection (1)(a) and (b) regard when the term begins, not how long it lasts.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny review.

///

///

///

This document contains 2,225 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.